AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS OF THE GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT AUTHORITY

Adopted August 15, 2023

ARTICLE I: Statement of Authority

- 1.1. <u>PURPOSE OF AUTHORITY</u>. The purpose of the Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority ("Authority") is to operate, maintain, and develop the Grand Junction Regional Airport and its related facilities and to oversee and manage the business and affairs of the Grand Junction Regional Airport.
- 1.2. <u>CREATION AND LEGAL STATUS</u>. The Authority was established, organized and incorporated in 1971 by the City of Grand Junction and the County of Mesa acting jointly in accordance with the Public Airport Authority Act, now codified at Title 41, Article 3 of the Colorado Revised Statutes, as amended by Colorado HB 23-1156 (2023) (the "Act"). The Authority is a political subdivision of the State of Colorado.
- 1.3. <u>PRINCIPAL OFFICE</u>. The principal office of the Authority shall be located within the City of Grand Junction, Mesa County, Colorado.

ARTICLE II: Board of Commissioners

- 2.1. <u>PURPOSE AND POWERS OF THE BOARD</u>. The Authority's Board of Commissioners (the "Board"), shall govern the Grand Junction Regional Airport. The Board shall have and exercise on behalf of the Authority those duties and powers set forth in the Act and such other duties and powers as are authorized by the laws of the State of Colorado. The Board shall act only at a duly called meeting that is open to the public unless otherwise provided for by the laws of the State of Colorado.
- 2.2. <u>SELECTION AND QUALIFICATION OF COMMISSIONERS</u>. The Board shall consist of seven (7) Commissioners. The Mesa County Board of Commissioners shall appoint three (3) Commissioners, only one of whom may, but need not be, a County Commissioner. The City Council of Grand Junction shall appoint three (3) Commissioners, only one of whom may, but need not be, a member of the City Council. Each Commissioner shall be a resident and taxpaying elector of Mesa County; each Commissioner appointed by the City Council shall also be a resident and taxpaying elector of the City of Grand Junction. Each of the Commissioners so appointed shall serve at the pleasure of, and be removed with or without case by, the body appointing her or him.

A seventh At-Large Commissioner shall be selected by the County- and City-appointed Commissioners in accordance with procedures established by the Board. The Board shall then advise the Mesa County Commissioners and the Grand Junction City Council of the person selected as At-Large Commissioner for ratification of the appointment.

2.3. <u>TERM</u>. The term of each Commissioner shall be four (4) years. No Commissioner may serve more than two (2) consecutive four (4) year terms. Each Commissioner shall hold

office until her or his successor has been appointed and qualified. If a vacancy occurs, the Commissioner appointed shall serve the remainder of the term to which he or she is appointed. If the remainder of such term is less than two years, that Commissioner may serve two additional consecutive four-year terms. If the remainder of such term is greater than two years, then that Commissioner may serve one additional term.

- 2.4. <u>VACANCIES</u>. Vacancies that occur on the Board, through death, resignation, removal of one of the Commissioners, or for any other reason, shall be filled in the same manner as provided for the appointment of the Commissioner being replaced. A change of residence of a Commissioner to a place outside of the City of Grand Junction, if he or she is an appointee of the City of Grand Junction, or outside of Mesa County, if he or she is an appointee of Mesa County, automatically creates a vacancy on the Board as to that Commissioner. A change in residence of the At-Large Commissioner to a place outside of Mesa County will also automatically create a vacancy on the Board as to the At-Large Commissioner position.
- 2.5. <u>COMPENSATION</u>. No Commissioner shall receive compensation for serving on the Board or as an employee of the Authority.

ARTICLE III: Meetings

- 3.1. <u>REGULAR MEETINGS</u>. Regular meetings of the Board shall be held within Mesa County, on such dates and times as the Board may determine.
- 3.2. <u>EXECUTIVE SESSIONS</u>. At any duly convened meeting, the Board may go into executive session in the manner and for the consideration of matters as permitted by the Colorado Open Meetings Law, now codified at Title 24, Article 6, Part 4 of the Colorado Revised Statutes.
- 3.3. <u>SPECIAL MEETINGS</u>. Special meetings may be called by any officer or member of the Board by informing the other members of the date, time, and place of such meeting and the purpose for which it is called, and by posting notice of the meeting in the method provided for in the Act.
- 3.4. <u>EMERGENCY MEETINGS</u>. An emergency meeting may be called by the Chairman or Vice Chairman, upon giving as much notice as is practical under the circumstances, to address unforeseen circumstances or an emergency that calls for immediate action. Any action taken at an emergency meeting must be ratified at the next meeting of the Board at which full and timely public notice is provided.
- 3.5. <u>WORKSHOPS</u>. The Board may hold workshops, as necessary, to allow it to discuss issues without taking any formal action. Workshops may be held without a quorum of the Board, but full and timely public notice is required for all workshops to be held and conducted.
- 3.6. <u>NOTICE OF MEETING</u>. Notice of the time and place of all regular and special meetings, as well as workshops, shall be posted as required by the Colorado Open Meetings Law.

3.7. QUORUM. Four (4) Commissioners of the Board shall constitute a quorum necessary to open a regular, special or emergency meeting and to take formal action on any and all matters. If a Commissioner is disqualified from voting on any action of the Board, his or her attendance will be included for purposes of determining a quorum even though that Commissioner does not participate in discussions or vote on the matter. Formal action by the Board shall be approved and adopted upon the affirmative vote of four (4) or more Commissioners.

3.8. METHOD OF ATTENDANCE AND ATTENDANCE REQUIREMENT.

Commissioners may attend a meeting or workshop in person or by any electronic or telephonic means which permits all of those who are physically in attendance to hear such Commissioner, and such Commissioner to hear persons physically in attendance. Commissioners must attend at least seventy-five (75) percent of all regular and special meetings of the Board, either in person or by electronic or telephonic means, within an ongoing six (6) month period. If a Commissioner fails to meet said attendance requirement, he or she may be subject to removal from the Board as provided in these Bylaws.

- 3.9. <u>REMOVAL</u>. By a unanimous vote of the remaining Commissioners, the Board may adopt a resolution requesting either the Mesa County Commissioners or the City Council of Grand Junction (or both the County and City in the case of an At-Large Commissioner) to remove a Commissioner appointed or approved by them.
- 3.10. <u>MINUTES AND RECORDS</u>. Board meetings will be recorded by audio or video means and such recordings will be kept in the permanent records of the Authority as the official minutes. Written minutes of the Board meetings shall be limited to actions and resolutions of the Board including motions, seconds, and votes on such actions. The record of executive sessions shall be maintained as provided in the Colorado Open Meetings Law.
- 3.11. <u>PROCEDURE</u>. The Board shall take official action by resolution, order, or motion. On all resolutions the rolls shall be called, and the ayes and nays recorded. Any other matter requiring a vote of the Board may be adopted by viva voce vote, but on demand of any Commissioner, the roll shall be called.

ARTICLE IV: Officers and Committees

- 4.1. <u>OFFICERS</u>. The officers of the Authority shall be the Chairman, Vice Chairman, Clerk and Treasurer. The same person may not hold two (2) offices.
 - 4.1.1. <u>CHAIRMAN</u>. The Chairman shall preside over all meetings of the Board and shall exercise such authority as is duly conferred upon him or her, from time to time, by the Board. He or she shall sign, by manual, electronic or facsimile signature, together with the Clerk, any leases, deeds, mortgages, bonds, contracts or other instruments which the Board has authorized to be executed, provided however, that the Board may delegate the Chairman's authority over certain routine matters to the Executive Director, to the extent not prohibited by law.
 - 4.1.2. <u>VICE CHAIRMAN</u>. In the absence of the Chairman or in the event of his or her inability to act, the Vice Chairman shall perform the duties of the Chairman, and

when so acting, shall have all of the powers of the Chairman.

- 4.1.3. <u>TREASURER</u>. The Treasurer shall perform all duties incidental to the office and all duties as may be assigned by the Board.
- 4.1.4. <u>CLERK</u>. The Clerk shall keep the minutes of the meetings of the Board; maintain a book of resolutions and inform the Board of any resolutions that are set to expire; be custodian of the corporate records and the Seal of the Authority; affix the Seal of the Authority to documents where the Seal is required; and perform all other duties incident to the office.
- 4.2. <u>ELECTION OR APPOINTMENT AND TERM</u>. The Chairman and Vice Chairman shall be elected from the members of the Board at the first regular meeting in January of each calendar year, and they shall hold office until their successors have been duly elected. The Board shall appoint a Clerk and Treasurer. The Clerk and Treasurer need not be members of the Board, and such positions shall continue in office at the pleasure of the Board.
- 4.3. <u>REMOVAL</u>. Any officer may be removed by an affirmative vote of a majority of Commissioners.
- 4.4. <u>VACANCY</u>. A vacancy in any office may be filled by the Board for the unexpired portion of the term.
- 4.5. <u>COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD</u>. There shall be the following Standing Committees: (i) the Executive Committee, consisting of the Chairman and Vice Chairman; and (ii) the Finance and Audit Committee, consisting of such Commissioners and other persons as shall be determined by the Chairman. The Board shall adopt a charter for each Standing Committee. The Chairman may also create and appoint any other Ad Hoc Committees from time to time to address specific concerns of the Authority. Committees may be composed of Commissioners and/or non-Commissioners as the Board deems advisable. All committees shall report directly to the Board.

The Chairman shall appoint a Committee Chair for each committee. Meetings of any committee are to be called by the Committee Chair.

ARTICLE V: Staffing

- 5.1. <u>EMPLOYEES</u>. The Board shall select and appoint the Executive Director, who shall serve at its pleasure. Other individuals selected by the Executive Director may be employed by the Authority, and those individuals will serve at the pleasure of the Executive Director, except where the Board approves a contract of employment.
- 5.2. <u>RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN BOARD AND STAFF</u>. The Board, acting for the Authority, has the responsibility to determine and establish the Authority's policies in the fulfillment of its statutory responsibilities. The Executive Director shall have the responsibility for the management and operation of the Grand Junction Regional Airport in accordance with such policy.

5.3. <u>DELEGATION</u>. The Board may reserve for itself or delegate to the Executive Director such powers and duties as may be permitted by the Act and determined to be in the best interests of the Authority.

ARTICLE VI: Miscellaneous

- 6.1. <u>SEAL</u>. The corporate seal of the Authority shall be in the form of a circle containing on the perimeter thereof GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT AUTHORITY, within the center COLORADO 1971, a facsimile of the runway configuration and a beacon marker with GRAND JUNCTION and MESA COUNTY inscribed therein.
- 6.2. <u>FISCAL YEAR</u>. The fiscal year of the Authority shall begin on the 1st day of January of each year and end on the 31st day of December of that year.
- 6.3. <u>AMENDMENT</u>. These Bylaws may be altered, amended or repealed by Resolution adopted at each of two special or regular meetings of the Board held not less than 27 days nor more than 45 days apart. Notice of the proposed amendment(s) shall be posted as required by the Colorado Open Meetings Law.
- 6.4. NO LIABILITY FOR DEBTS AND INDEMNIFICATION. No Commissioner shall be personally liable for any claims against or debts of the Authority. The Authority shall indemnify Commissioners and hold them harmless from and against any and all claims and liabilities to which they may become subject by reason of their actions, omissions, or status as a Commissioner, to the maximum extent permitted by law, provided, however, that the Authority need not indemnify any Commissioner adjudged to have intentionally acted wrongly or fraudulently.